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I. INTRODUCTION _

l. Complainant Windham Packaging, LLC (“Windham” or “Complainant”)

respectfully requests the United States International Trade Commission commence an

investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337

(“Section 337”), to remedy the unlawful importation into the United States, sale for importation

into the United States, and/or sale within the United States xafierimportation, of certain

microperforated packaging containing fresh produce that infringe one or more claims of U.S.

Patent No. 7,083,837 (“the ’837 Patent” or the “Asserted Patent”).

- 2. The Asserted Patent is directed to an extraordinarily valuable technology in the

field of modified atmosphere packaging (MAP), namely, specialized packaging inclusive of a

microperforated material for containing respiring agricultural and horticultural products (e.g.,

fresh fruits, fresh vegetables, fresh herbs, mushrooms) and other perishable food products and

non-food products and the like.

3. Complainant owns the Asserted Patent by assignment. This patent has been

licensed to leading manufacturers of produce packaging articles and impliedly sublicensed to

leading food packaging companies throughout the United States, as described further below.

4. The proposed respondents (“Respondents”) are Alpine Fresh, Inc.; Apio, Inc.;

B&G Foods North America, Inc.; Glory Foods, Inc.; Mann Packing Co., Inc.; and Taylor Farms

Califomia, Inc. Respondents have engaged in unfair acts in violation of Section 337 through and

in connection with the unlicensed importation into the United States, sale for importation into the

United States, and/or sale within the United States afier importation of certain microperforated

packaging containing fresh produce that infringe the Asserted Patent.
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5. Complainant asserts that Respondents directly infringe, literally or under the

doctrine of equivalents, the following claims of the Asserted Patent, as shown in the following

table (the single independent claim being shown in bold):

Respondent Infringed Claims

Alpine Fresh, lnc. 1-6 and l l

Apio, lnc. 1-6, ll and 13

B&G Foods North America, lnc. 1-6, and ll

Glory Foods, Inc. 1-6, ll and I3

Mann Packing Co., Inc. 1-6, 11 and 13

Taylor Farms Califomia, Inc. 1-6 and ll

6. A certified copy of the Asserted Patent accompanies this Complaint as Exhibit 1.

Windham owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in and to this patent. A certified

copy of the recorded assignment of the Asserted Patent accompanies this Complaint as Exhibit 2.

7. As more fully described in Section IX infra, a domestic industry has been

established in the United States relative to the subject matter of the Asserted Patent, as required

by Section 337(a)(2). A domestic industry exists as defined under Section 337(a)(3)(C) because

Windham has made, and continues to make, substantial investments in the United States with

respect to engineering, research and development, and licensing activities exploiting the Asserted

Patent. Additionally, a domestic industry also exists as defined under Sections 337(a)(3)(A),(B)

because Windham and its licensees have also made significant investments in the United States

related to articles that practice the Asserted Patent, including investing in plant and equipment,

and employing labor and capital.
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8. Complainant seeks a permanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section

337(d), excluding from entry into the United States all of Respondents’ Accused Products

(examples of which are described infra in Section VI), which infringe the Asserted Patent.

9. Complainant also seeks permanent cease-and-desist orders, pursuant to Section

337(f), directing each Respondent to cease and desist from activities including, but not limited

to, importing, marketing, advertising, demonstrating, warehousing for distribution, offering for

sale,iselling, distributing, servicing, repairing, and maintaining such Accused Products in the

United States or any other products infringing the Asserted Patent, and aiding and abetting others

in these activities.

10. Complainant further seeks the imposition of a bond on any imports during the 60

day Presidential review period pursuant to Section 337(_i).

II. , COMPLAINANT

ll. Windham is a New Hampshire limited liability company with its principal place

ofbusiness at 18 Wilson Road, Windham, NH 03087.

12. ' Windham was founded in 2007 and has grown to be a leader in the field of

modified atmosphere packaging (“MAP”).

13. Modified or controlled atmosphere packaging is used for respiring or

biochemically active agricultural products such as fresh fruits, fresh vegetables, and fresh herbs

(collectively, “fresh produce”). While the primary means to extend quality and shelf life of fresh

produce is temperature control, packaging fresh produce in materials that modify or control the

flow of oxygen, carbon dioxide and moisture in and out of the packaging material can also

extend the quality and shelf life. Such packaging materials are generally referred to as modified

atmosphere packaging. By controlling the consumption and release of oxygen and the
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production and release of carbon dioxide and moisture, food is kept fresher longer, thus reducing

waste and maximizing taste. A

14. The named inventor of the Asserted Patent is Dr. Elizabeth Varriano-Marston, a

respected member of the fresh produce packaging industry. See Exhibit 1. Windham is the sole

owner of the entire right, title and interest in the Asserted Patent by assignment. See Exhibit 2.

Windham built a licensing program that exploits the technology of the Asserted Patent and

related patent families in the United States. See Exhibit 3, 1]2.

III. RESPONDENTS

A. Alpine Fresh, Inc. '

l5. Alpine Fresh, Inc. (“Alpine”) is a Florida corporation with its principal place of

business at 9300 NW 58"‘Street, Suite 201, Miami, Florida 33178. As more fully described in

Section VI infia, Alpine markets certain microperforated packaging containing fresh produce

(the “Alpine Accused Products”). The fresh produce is packed into the microperforated

packaging of the Alpine Accused Products outside the United States, and specifically in

Guatemala, Mexico and Peru. Alpine and/or others then import the Alpine Accused Products,

sell them for importation, or sell them in the United States after importation. The Alpine

Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patent.

B. Apio, Inc.

16. Apio, Inc. (“Apio”) is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business

at 4575 W Main St., Guadalupe, California 93434. As more fully described in Section VI infra,

Apio markets certain microperforated packaging containing fresh produce, including products

offered under the brand names “Eat Smart” and “GreenLine” (collectively, the “Apio Accused

Products”). The fresh produce is packed into the microperforated packaging of the Apio

Accused Products outside the United States, and specifically in Guatemala. Apio and/or others
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then import the Apio Accused Products, sell them for importation, or sell them in the United

States after importation. The Apio Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patent.

C. B&G Foods North America, Inc.

l7. B&G Foods North America, Inc. (“B&G”) is a Delaware corporation with its

principal place of business at Four Gatehall Drive, Parsippany, New Jersey 07054. As more

fully described in Section VI infia, B&G markets certain microperforated packaging containing i

fresh produce, including products offered under the brand name “Green Giant” (the “B&G

Accused Products”). The fresh produce is packed into the microperforated packaging of the

B&G Accused Products outside the United States, and specifically in Mexico, Canada, Peru and

Guatemala. B&G and/or others then import the B&G Accused Products, sell them for

importation, or sell them in the United States afier importation. The B&G Accused Products

infringe the Asserted Patent.

' D. Glory Foods, Inc.

I8. Glory Foods, Inc. (“Glory Foods”) is a Delaware corporation with its principal

place of business at 90l Oak Street, Columbus, Ohio 43205. As more fully described in Section

VI infia, Glory Foods markets certain microperforated packaging containing fresh produce (the

“Glory Foods Accused Products”). The fresh produce is packed into the microperforated

packaging of the Glory Foods Accused Products outside the United States, specifically in Canada

and Mexico. Glory Foods and/or others then import the Glory Foods Accused Products, sell

them for importation, or sell them in the United States after importation. The Glory Foods

Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patent.

E. Mann Packing Co., Inc.

l9. Mann Packing Co., Inc. (“Mann”) is a Califomia corporation with its principal

place of business at 1250 Hansen Street, Salinas, California 93901. As more fully described in
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Section VI infra, Mann markets certain microperforated packaging containing fresh produce (the

“Mann Accused Products”). The fresh produce is packed into the microperforated packaging of

the Mann Accused Products outside the United States, specifically in Mexico. Mann and/or "

others then import the Mann Accused Products, sell them for importation, or sell them in the

United States after importation. The Mann Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patent.

F. Taylor Farms California, Inc.

20. Taylor Farms Califomia, Inc. (“Taylor Farms”) is a Delaware corporation with its

principal place of business at 947 B Blanco Circle, Salinas, California 93901. As more fully

described in Section VI infia, Taylor Farms markets certain microperforated packaging

containing fresh produce (the “Taylor Farms Accused Products”). The fresh produce is packed

into the microperforated packaging of the Taylor Farms Accused Products outside the United

States, specifically in Mexico. Taylor Farms and/or others then import the Taylor Farms

Accused Products, sell them for importation, or sell them in the United States afier importation.

The Taylor Farms Accused Products infringe the Asserted Patent.

IV. THE TECHNOLOGY AND PRODUCTS AT ISSUE

21. Complainant’s Asserted Patent is directed to microperforated packaging that

establishes optimum atmospheric conditions for fresh produce contained therein.

22. The patented technology involves the inclusion of microperforations in a non

porous, polymeric packaging material, with the microperforations being of a size, shape, number

and location to control and maintain desired oxygen and carbon dioxide concentrations for fresh

produce contained within the packaging.

23. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210. l2(a)(l2), the Accused Products comprise certain

microperforated packaging containing fresh produce, the microperforated packaging including a

non-porous, polymeric material having microperforations located in a finite region of the
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polymeric material. The Accused Products are imported, marketed and/or sold by Respondents

in the United States. Exemplary instances of unfair trade practices and exemplary Accused

Products are provided in Section VI, infra, for each Respondent.

V. THE ASSERTED PATENT

24. At issue in this investigation is Respondents’ infringement of the ’837 Patent.

25. The ’837 Patent is titled “Registered Microperforated Films for

Modified/Controlled Atmosphere Packaging” and was duly and legally issued on August l,

2006. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 2l0.l2(a)(9)(i), a certified copy ofthe ’837 Patent is attached as

Exhibit 1. The inventor of the ’837 Patent is Dr. Elizabeth Varriano-Marston. Exhibit l. The

’837 Patent has one independent claim and thirteen dependent claims. Id.

A. Ownership by Complainant

26. Windham owns the entire right, title and interest in and to the ’837 Patent by valid

assignment. The assignment of the ’837 Patent is recorded at the U.S. Patent and Trademark

Qffice (“USPTO”) at Reel/Frame 042702/0405. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210. l2(a)(9)(ii), a

certified copy of the recorded assignment relative to the ’837 Patent is attached as Exhibit 2.

Copies of additional assignments concerning other familial-patents related to the ’837 Patent are

attached as Exhibit 4.

27. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210. l2(c), this Complaint is accompanied by a certified

copy and three additional copies of the prosecution history of the ’837 Patent, Appendix A, as

well as four copies of each patent, and four copies of applicable pages of each technical

reference mentioned in the prosecution history of the ’837 Patent, Appendix B.

B. Non-Technical Description of Patented Invention

. 28. The ’837 Patent relates to microperforated packaging for fresh produce, namely

packaging for fresh produce wherein the packaging includes a non-porous polymeric material
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having microperforations for controlling and maintaining optimum atmosphere conditions within

specified oxygen and carbon dioxide concentration ranges for fresh produce contained in the

packaging. As a result of the invention of the ’837 Patent, produce companies are able to

provide packaged fresh produce with an extended life, reduce food waste, and provide high- .

quality produce at reasonable costs. '

C. Foreign Counterparts to the ’837Patent

29. There are no foreign patents or patent applications corresponding to the ‘837

Patent that have been filed, abandoned, withdrawn or rejected.

D. Licensees

30. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 2l0.l2(a)(9)(iii), a list of licensed entities is attached as

Exhibit 5.

VI. UNLAWFUL AND UNFAIR ACTS COMMITTED BY RESPONDENTS 
PATENT INFRINGEMENT '

31. Respondents unlawfully import into the United States, sell for importation into the

United States, and/or sell afier importation into the United States the Accused Products —certain

microperforated packaging containing fresh produce —that infringe the Asserted Patent.

32. All of the representative Accused Products described below that are offered by

Respondents infringe at least claim l of the Asserted Patent.

A. Alpine’s Unlawful and Unfair Acts

33. Alpine is a grower, shipper, and packer of fresh fruits and vegetables. Alpine’s

fresh fruits and vegetables are grown, manufactured, marketed and/or tested outside the United

States, specifically in Guatemala, Mexico and Peru, among other countries. These same fresh

produce are then packed into certain microperforated packaging and imported into the United
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States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold within the United States afier

importation by Alpine and/or its distributors. i

34. Examples of Alpine’s microperforated packaging containing fresh produce that

directly infringe (35 U.S.C. § 271(a)) claims l-6, and ll of the Asserted Patent include Alpine’s

2 lb. package of Fresh Brussels Sprouts and Alpine’s 2.2 lb. package of Fresh Asparagus.

Alpine’s 2.2 lb. package of Fresh Asparagus is advertised on Alpine’s website,

https://www.alpinefresh.com/asparagus. See Exhibit 6. Alpine’s 2.25 lb. package of Fresh

Asparagus is offered for sale through online retailers, such as Unloathe. See Exhibit 7.

35. The foregoing examples are merely representative of the Alpine Accused

Products at issue, and further discovery may reveal additional infringing Alpine products that are

imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold within

the United States after importation by Alpine and/or its distributors.

B. Apio’s Unlawful and Unfair Acts

36. Apio engages in processing, packing, shipping, and distributing specialty

packaged fresh vegetables.‘ Apio’s fresh-cut vegetables are grown, processed, manufactured,

marketed and/or tested outside the United States, specifically, at least in Guatemala. These same

fresh produce are packed into certain microperforated packaging and imported into the United

States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold within the United States after

importation by Apio and/or its distributors. i

37. Examples of Apio’s microperforated packaging containing fresh produce that

directly infringe (35 U.S.C. § 27l(a)) claims 1-6, ll, and l3 ofthe Asserted Patent include

Apio’s “Eat Smart” 8 oz. package of French Beans and Apio’s “Greenline” 8 oz. package of

Fresh Haricot Vert French Beans. These representative Apio Accused Products are advertised on

Apio’s websites for its “Eat Smart” and “Greenline” brands. See Exhibits 8-9. Apio’s
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“Greenline” 8 oz. package of Fresh Haricot Vert French Beans is also offered for sale through

online retailers, such as Food City. See Exhibit 10.

38. The foregoing examples are merely representative of the Apio Accused Products

at issue, and further discovery may reveal additional infringing Apio products that are imported

into the United States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold within the United

States afier importation by Apio and/or its distributors.

C. B&G’s Unlawful and Unfair Acts

39. B&G manufactures, sells, and distributes a variety of food and household

products, including fresh produce. B&G’s fresh vegetables are grown, manufactured, marketed

and/or tested outside the United States, specifically, at least in Mexico, Canada, Peru and

Guatemala. These same fresh produce are packed into certain microperforated packaging and

imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold within

the United States after importation by B&G and/or its distributors.

40. Examples of B&G’s microperforated packaging containing fresh produce that

directly infringe (35 U.S.C. § 27l (a)) claims l-6, and ll of the Asserted Patent include B&G’s

12 oz. package of Broccoli Florets & Baby Carrots, B&G’s l2 oz. package of Broccoli &

Cauliflower Medley, B&G’s I2 oz. package of Broccoli Medley, B&G’s l0 oz. package of

Cauliflower Florets, B&G’s 8 oz. package of French Beans, B&G’s 6, 8 and l6 oz. packages of

Sugar Snap Peas, and B&G’s 6 oz. package of Snow Peas. Many of these representative B&G

Accused Products are advertised on B&G’s “Green Giant Fresh” website. See Exhibit l l. In

addition, several of the representative B&G Accused Products are offered for sale through online

retailers. See Exhibit 12.

4|. The foregoing examples are merely representative of the B&G Accused Products

at issue, and fiirther discovery may reveal additional infringing B&G products that are imported
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into the United States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold within the United

States after importation by B&G and/or its distributors.

D. Glory Foods’ Unlawful and Unfair Acts

42. Glory Foods is a grower, shipper, and packer of fresh produce. Glory Foods’

fresh vegetables are grown, manufactured, marketed and/or tested outside the United States,

specifically, at least in Mexico and Canada. These same fresh produce are then packed into

certain microperforated packaging and imported into the United States, sold for importation into

the United States, and/or sold within the United States after importation by Glory Foods and/or

its distributors. "

43. Examples of Glory Foods’s microperforated packaging containing fresh produce

that directly infringe (35 U.S.C. § 27l(a)) claims l-6, l l, and 13 ofthe Asserted Patent include

Glory Foods’ 16 oz. package of Kale Greens and Glory Foods’ “Power Essence” 10 oz. package

of Kale & Shredded Brussels Sprouts. These representative Glory Foods Accused Products are

advertised on Glory Foods’ website. See Exhibit 13. In addition, these products are also offered

for sale through online retailers. See Exhibit 14.

44. The foregoing examples are merely representative of the Glory Foods Accused

Products at issue, and further discovery may reveal additional infringing Glory Foods products

that are imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold

within the United States afier importation by Glory Foods and/or its distributors.

E. _Mann’s Unlawful and Unfair Acts

45. Mann manufactures, sells, and distributes a variety of food products, including

fresh produce. Mann’s fresh produce is grown, manufactured, marketed and/or tested outside the

United States, specifically, at least in Mexico. These same fresh produce are packed into certain

microperforated packaging and then imported into the United States, sold for importation into the
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United States, and/or sold within the United States after importation by Mann and/or its

distributors.

46. Examples of Mann’s microperforated packaging containing fresh produce that

directly infringe (35 U.S.C. § 27l(a)) claims l-6, ll, and 13 of the Asserted Patent include

Mann’s “Family Favorites” l0 oz. package of Sugar Snap Peas & Carrots and Mann’s “Family

Favorites” 8 and l5 oz. packages of Stringless Sugar Snap Peas. These representative Mann

Accused Products are advertised on Mann’s website. See Exhibit 15. Mann’s “Family

Favorites” Stringless Sugar Snap Peas is also offered for sale through online retailers. See

Exhibit 16.

47. The foregoing examples are merely representative ofthe Mann Accused Products

at issue, and further discovery may reveal additional infringing Mann products that are imported

into the United States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold within the United

States after importation by Mann and/or its distributors.

F. Taylor Farms’ Unlawful and Unfair Acts

48. Taylor Farms manufactures, sells, and distributes a variety of fresh produce

products. Taylor Farms’ fresh produce is grown, manufactured, marketed and/or tested outside

the United States, specifically, at least in Mexico. These same fresh produce are then packed

into certain microperforated packaging and imported into the United States, sold for importation

into the United States, and/or sold within the United States afier importation by Taylor Farms

and/or its distributors.

49. An example of Taylor Fanns’ microperforated packaging containing fresh

produce that directly infringes (35 U.S.C. § 27l(a)) claims l-6 and ll of the Asserted Patent

includes Taylor Farms’ 12 oz. package of Organic Green Beans. This representative product is
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advertised on Taylor Farms’ website and is also offered for sale through online retailers. See

Exhibits 17-18. ‘

50. The foregoing example is merely representative of the Taylor Farms Accused

Products at issue, and further discovery may reveal additional infringing Taylor Famis products

that are imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United States, and/or sold

within the United States afler importation by Taylor Farms and/or its distributors.

VII. SPECIFIC INSTANCES OF UNFAIR IMPORTATION AND SALE

A. Specific Instances of Alpine’s Unlawful Importation and Sale

S1. On December 15, 2015, January 22, 2016, August 11, 2016 and November 20,

2016, two-pound packages of Alpine Fresh Brussels Sprouts, one of the Alpine Accused

Products, were purchased at the Costco Wholesale store located at 311 Daniel Webster Hwy,

Nashua, New Hampshire 03060. Exhibit 19, 117. The packages list Mexico as the country of

origin. Id.

52. ln November 2016, a 2.2-pound package of Alpine Fresh Asparagus, one of the

Alpine Accused Products, was purchased at the Costco Wholesale store located at 31 1 Daniel

Webster Hwy, Nashua, New Hampshire 03060. Id. fi 17. The package lists Peru as the country

of origin. Id.

53. Testing of the Alpine Accused Products revealed that they infringe claim 1 of the

Asserted Patent either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R.

§ 2l0.l2(a)(9)(viii), attached as Exhibit 20 is a claim chart demonstrating how Alpine’s two

pound package of Fresh Brussels Sprouts, as a representative Accused Product, infringes the

Asserted Patent. The standards referenced in this claim chart can be found in Exhibit 19, 111129

36. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(b), a physical sample of a representative Alpine Accused

Product accompanies this Complaint as lmported Article [A-1.
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54. Discovery is expected to reveal additional specific acts of Alpine importing the

Alpine Accused Products into the United States, selling the Alpine Accused Products for

importation into the United States, and/or selling the Alpine Accused Products within the United

States after importation. Discovery is also expected to reveal further specific acts of Alpine

importing other infringing products into the United States, selling other infringing products for

importation into the United States, and/or selling other infringing products within the United

States after importation.

B. Specific Instances of Apio’s Unlawful Importation and Sale

55. On March 17, 2017, April 20, 2017 and September 3, 2017, eight-ounce packages

of “Eat Smart” French Beans, one of the Apio Accused Products, were purchased at the Shaw’s

supermarket located at 43 Indian Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Exhibit 19, 1]8.

The packages list Guatemala as the country of origin. Id.

56. On August 20, 2016, an eight-ounce package of “Greenline” French Beans, one of

the Apio Accused Products, was purchased at the Shaw’s supermarket located at 43 Indian Rock

Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id. 1118. The package lists Guatemala as the country of

origin. Id. '

57. Testing of the Apio Accused Products revealed that they infringe claim 1 of the

Asserted.Patent either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. Pursuant to l9 C.F.R.

§ 210.12(a)(9)(viii), attached as Exhibit 21 is a claim chart demonstrating how Apio’s “Eat

Smart” eight-ounce package of French Beans, as a representative Accused Product, infringes the

Asserted Patent. The standards referenced in this claim chart can be found in Exhibit l9, 111]29

36. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(b), a physical sample of a representative Apio Accused

Product accompanies this Complaint as Imported Article IA-2.
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58. Discovery is expected to reveal additional specific acts of Apio importing the

Apio Accused Products into the United States, selling the Apio Accused Products for importation

into the United States, and/or selling the Apio Accused Products within the United States after

importation. Discovery is also expected to reveal further specific acts of Apio importing other

infringing products into the United States, selling other infringing products for importation into

the United States, and/or selling other infringing products within the United States afier

importation.

C. Specific Instances of B&G’s Unlawful Importation and Sale

59. On April 17, 2017, a 12-ounce package of “Green Giant” Broccoli Florets &

Baby Carrots, one of the B&G Accused Products, was purchased at the Shaw’s supermarket

located at 43 Indian Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Exhibit 19, 1]9. The package

lists Mexico as the country of origin. Id. ' v

60. On July 6, 2016 and November 18, 2016, 12-ounce packages of “Green Giant”

Broccoli & Cauliflower Medley, one of the B&G Accused Products, were purchased at the

Shaw’s supermarket located at 43 Indian Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id. $119.

The packages list Mexico as the country of origin. Id.

61. On November 18, 2016, an eight-ounce package of “Green Giant” French Beans,

one of the B&G Accused Products, was purchased at the Shaw’s supermarket located at 43

Indian Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id 1]20. The package lists Guatemala as

the country of origin. Id.

62. On August 18, 2016, November 18, 2016, and September 3, 201.7,eight-ounce

packages of “Green Giant” Sugar Snap Peas, one of the B&G Accused Products, were purchased

at the Shaw’s supermarket located at 43 Indian Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id

1]21. The packages list Pew and Guatemala as the countries oforigin. Id.
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63. On August 16 and 17, 2016, l2-ounce packages of “Green Giant” Broccoli

Medley, one of the B&G Accused Products, were purchased at the Shaw’s supermarket located

at 43 Indian Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id. 1]22. The packages list Canada as

the country oforigin. Id. 

64. On October 5, 2016, a l6-ounce package of “Green Giant” Sugar Snap Peas, one

of the B&G Accused Products, was purchased at the Shaw’s supermarket located at 43 Indian

Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id 1]23. The package lists Peru as the country of

origin. Id.

65. On October 5, 2016, a six-ounce package of “Green Giant” Snow Peas, one of the

B&G Accused Products, was purchased at the Shaw’s supermarket located at 43 Indian Rock Rd,

Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id. 1]24. The package lists Peru as the country of origin. Id.

66. On November 20, 2016, a six-ounce package of “Green Giant” Sugar Snap Peas,

one of the B&G Accused Products, was purchased at the Shaw’s supermarket located at 43

Indian Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id. 1]25. The package lists Peru as the

country of origin. Id. '

67. On September 3, 2017, a 10-ounce package of “Green Giant” Cauliflower Florets,

one of the B&G Accused Products, was purchased at the Shaw’s supermarket located at 43

Indian Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id. 1]26. The package lists Canada as the

country oforigin. Id.

68. Testing of the B&G Accused Products revealed that they infringe claim l of the

Asserted Patent either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. Pursuant to l9 C.F

§ 2] 0.l2(a)(9)(viii), attached as Exhibit 22 is a claim chart demonstrating how B&G’s “Green

Giant” 12-ounce package of Broccoli Florets & Baby Carrots, as a representative Accused
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Product, infringes the Asserted Patent. The standards referenced in this claim chart can be found

in Exhibit l9, TH]29-36. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210. l2(b), a physical sample of a representative

B&G Accused Product accompanies this Complaint as Imported Article IA-3.

69. Discovery is expected to reveal additional specific acts of B&G importing the

B&G Accused Products into the United States, selling the B&G Accused Products for

importation into the United States, and/or selling the B&G Accused Products within the United

States after importation. Discovery is also expected to reveal further specific acts of B&G

importing other infringing products into the United States, selling other infringing products for

importation into the United States, and/or selling other infringing products within the United

States after importation.

D. Specific Instances of Glory Foods’ Unlawful Importation and Sales

70. On April l7, 2017 a 10-ounce package of Glory Foods “Power Essence” Kale &

Shredded Brussels Sprouts, one of the Glory Foods Accused Products, was purchased at the

Hannaford supermarket located at 6 Hampton Drive, Londonderry, New Hampshire 03053.

Exhibit l9, 10. The package lists USA/Mexico as the countries of origin. Id. 1]l0, l4.

71. On October 20, 2016, a 16-ounce package of Glory Foods Kale Greens, one of the

Glory Foods Accused Products, was purchased at the Shaw’s supermarket located at 43 Indian

Rock Rd, Windham, New Hampshire 03087. Id. fl l l. The package lists Canada as the country

of origin. Id.

72. Testing of the Glory Foods Accused Products revealed that they infringe claim l

of the Asserted Patent either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R.

§ 210. l2(a)(9)(viii), attached as Exhibits 23-24 are claim charts demonstrating how Glory

Foods’ Power Essence 10-ounce package of Kale & Shredded Brussels Sprouts, and Glory

Foods’ 16-ounce package of Kale Greens, as representative Accused Products, infringe the
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Asserted Patent. The standards referenced in this claim chart can be found in Exhibit 19, 111129

36. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.12(b), physical samples of representative Glory Foods Accused

Products accompany this Complaint as Imported Articles IA-4 and IA-5.

73. Discovery is expected to reveal additional specific acts of Glory Foods importing

the Glory Foods Accused Products into the United States, selling the Glory Foods Accused

Products for importation into the United States, and/or selling the Glory Foods Accused Products

within the United States afier importation. Discovery is also expected to reveal fiirther specific

acts of Glory Foods importing other infringing products into the United States, selling other

infringing products for importation into the United States, and/or selling other infringing

products within the United States afier importation.

E. Specific Instances of Mann’s Unlawful Importation and Sale

74. On November 21, 2016, a 10-ounce package of Mann’s “Family Favorites” Sugar

Snap Peas and Carrots, one of the Mann Accused Products, was purchased at the Hannaford

supermarket located at 6 Hampton Drive, Londonderry, New Hampshire 03053. Exhibit 19, 11

27. The package lists USA/Mexico as the countries of origin. Id. 1]14, 27

75. On April 20, 2017, eight-ounce packages of Mann’s “Family Favorites” Stringless

Sugar Snap Peas, one of the Mann Accused Products, were purchased at the Hannaford

supermarket located at 6 Hampton Drive, Londonderry, New Hampshire 03053 and the Market

Basket supermarket located at 167 South Broadway, Salem, New Hampshire 03079. Id 1]12.

The packages list Mexico as the country of origin. Id. '

76. On April 29, 2017, a 15-ounce package of Mann’s “Family Favorites” Stringless

Sugar Snap Peas, one of the Mann Accused Products, was purchased at the Market Basket

supermarket located at 167 South Broadway, Salem, New Hampshire 03079. Id. 1128. The

package lists Mexico as the country of origin. Id.
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77. Testing of the Mann Accused Products revealed that they infringe claim 1 of the

Asserted Patent either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R.

§ 210.12(a)(9)(viii), attached as Exhibit 25 is a claim chart demonstrating how Mann’s “Family

Favorites” eight-ounce package of Stringless Sugar Snap Peas, as a representative Accused

Product, infringes the Asserted Patent. The standards referenced in this claim chart can be found

in Exhibit 19, {[1}29-36. Pursuant to l9 C.F.R. § 2l0.12(b), a physical sample ofa representative

Mann’s Accused Product accompanies this Complaint as Imported Article IA-6.

78. Discovery is expected to reveal additional specific acts of Mann importing the

Mann Accused Products into the United States, selling the Mann Accused Products for

importation into the United States, and/or selling the Mann Accused Products within the United

States after importation. Discovery is also expected to reveal further specific acts of Mann

importing other infringing products into the United States, selling other infringing products for

importation into the United States, and/or selling other infringing products within the United

States after importation.

F. Specific Instances of Taylor Farms’ Unlawful Importation and Sale

79. On April 29, 2017, a 12-ounce package of Taylor Farms Organic Green Beans,

one of the Taylor Farms Accused Products, was purchased at the Star Market supermarket

located at 1275 S Main St, Salinas, Califomia 93901. Exhibit l9, 1]13. The package lists

Mexico as the country of origin. Id.

. 80. Testing of the Taylor Farms Accused Product revealed that it infringes claim l of

the Asserted Patent either literally or under the doctrine of equivalents. Pursuant to l9 C.F.R.

§ 2l0.l2(a)(9)(viii), attached as Exhibit 26 is a claim chart demonstrating how Taylor Farms’ l2

ounce package of Organic Green Beans, as a representative Accused Product, infringes the

Asserted Patent. The standards referenced in this claim chart can be found in Exhibit 19, W 29
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36. Pursuant to I9 C.F.R. § 2l0.l2(b), a physical sample ofa representative Taylor Foods

Accused Product accompanies this Complaint as Imported Article IA-7.

81. Discovery is expected to reveal additional specific acts of Taylor Famis importing

the Taylor Farms Accused Products into the United States, selling the Taylor Farms Accused

Products for importation into the United States, and/or selling the Taylor Famis Accused

Products within the United States afier importation. Discovery is also expected to reveal further

specific acts of Taylor Farms importing other infringing products into the United States, selling

other infringing products for importation into the United States, and/or selling other infringing

products within the United States after importation.

VIII. CLASSIFICATION UNDER THE HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE

82. The Accused Products are believed to fall within at least the following

classifications of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule of the United States: 0704.20.00 (fresh or

chilled Brussels sprouts), 0704.90.40 (fresh or chilled “other” cabbages, cauliflower, kohlrabi,

kale and similar edible brassicas), 0704.10.60 (fresh or chilled cauliflower and headed broccoli,

cut, sliced or otherwise reduced in size), 0708.20.90 (fresh or chilled “other” beans (Vigna spp.,

Phaseolus spp.)), 0709.20 (fresh or chilled asparagus) and 0706.10.00 (fresh or chilled carrots

under l0 cm in length). This classification is intended for illustration only and is not intended to

restrict the scope of the Accused Products.

IX. DOMESTIC INDUSTRY

83. _ As required by Section 337(a)(2), and defined by Section 337(a)(3), a domestic

industry exists in the United States in connection with the articles protected by the Asserted

Patent.
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A. Technical Prong

84. The Asserted Patent is important to Windham’s success in the field of modified

atmosphere packaging. Windham expends time and money in furthering its invention by

licensing the Asserted Patent to numerous companies, such as Temkin lntemational, Inc.

(“Temkin”), to create microperforated packaging for fresh produce. Windham’s licensees

practice at least one claim of the Asserted Patent in a manner known, expected, and encouraged

by Windham. Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 2l0.l2(a)(9)(ix), attached as Exhibit 27 is a claim chart

demonstrating a representative domestic article that is protected by the invention claimed in the

Asserted Patent, specifically a microperforated packaging for fresh produce manufactured and

sold by Temkin for use in an eight-ounce package of English Peas. Pursuant to l9 C.F.R.

§ 2 l0.l2(b), a physical sample of a representative licensed product accompanies this Complaint

as Domestic Article DA-l.

B. Economic Prong

1. Domestic Industry under Section 337(a)(3)(C)

85. Pursuant to Section 337(a)(3)(C), a domestic industry exists by virtue of

substantial investments made in the United States by and on behalf of Windham in exploiting the

Asserted Patent, including investments in engineering, research and development, and licensing

relative to articles protected by the Asserted Patent.

a) Windham ’s Licensing Practices '

86. Pursuant to Section 337(a)(3)(C), a domestic industry exists by virtue of

substantial investments made in the United States by Windham in exploiting the Asserted Patent

through licensing relative to articles protected by the Asserted Patent. 
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87. Windham has successfully negotiated royalty-bearing license agreements for the

Asserted Patent with the following entities, each of which is a significant contributor to the

plastic converter and packaging article industry:

1) Temkin International, Inc. (“Temkin”) is a Utah corporation with its

principal address at 213 Temkin Way, Payson, Utah 8465l. Temkin

manufactures and sells a substantial number of fresh produce packaging

articles. In September 2007, Windham entered into an agreement with

Temkin to license the Asserted Patent to further Temkin’s manufacture,

marketing, sales and distribution of flexible films to a range of industries,

including the produce industry, and this agreement was renewed in March

2012. See Confidential Exhibits 28-29. In March 2012, Temkin also began

leasing from Windham a laser system (purchased and installed by Windham)

for manufacturing microperforated packaging materials in accordance with

Windham’s technical specifications, instructions, and safety and quality

control standards, and a second equipment lease agreement was entered into in

October 20l6 for another laser system installed at Temkin by Windham in

August 2016. See Confidential Exhibits 30-31. Additional information about

Temkin can be found on its website, www.temkinfresh.com, which includes

promotion of Windham’s technology. See Exhibits 32-33 (screenshot from

http://www.temkinfresh.com/products (“Using Windham Packaging’s laser

mieroperforation technology, Temkin can keep your produce fresher,

longer.”) and brochure available at http://www.temkinfresh.com/wp- '
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content/uploads/2013/ l 0/Temkin-Controlled-Atmosphere-Packaging

Brochure.pdf (noting partnership with Windham)).

Emerald Packaging Inc. (“Emerald”) is a California corporation with its

principal address at 33050 Westem Avenue, Union City, California 94587.

Emerald manufactures and sells a substantial number of fresh produce

packaging articles. In September 2007, Windham entered into an agreement

with Emerald to license the Asserted Patent to further Emerald’s manufacture

marketing, sales, and distribution of flexible films and specialty pre-made

bags for customers who produce and/or distribute, inter alia, fresh vegetables

and fruit. See Confidential Exhibit 34. In 2013, Windham and Emerald

renewed their agreement. See Confidential Exhibit 35. More information

about Emerald can be found on its website, www.empack.com. .

Sunshine Plastics Corporation (now Sunshine FPC, Inc.) (“Sunshine”) is

a Califomia corporation with its principal address at 1600 Gage Rd.,

Montebello, Califomia 90640. Sunshine manufactures and sells a substantial

number of fresh produce packaging articles. In December 2009, Windham

entered into an agreement with Sunshine to license the Asserted Patent to

further Sunshine’s manufacture, marketing, sales and distribution of flexible

films and specialty pre-made bags for customers who produce and/or

distribute, inter alia, fresh vegetables and fruit. See Confidential Exhibit 36.

More information about Sunshine can be found on its website,

httpz//www.sunshinefpc.com.
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KNF Flexpak Corporation (“KNF”) is a Pennsylvaniacorporation with its

principal address at 734 West Penn Pike, Tamaqua, Pennsylvania 18252.

KNF manufactures and sells a substantial number of fresh produce packaging

articles. In September 2013, Windham entered into an agreement with KNF

to license the Asserted Patent to further KNF’s manufacture, marketing, sales

and distribution of flexible, specialty pre-made bags for customers who

produce and/or distribute, inter alia, fresh vegetables and fruit. See

Confidential Exhibit 37. More information about KNF can be found on its

website, http://www.knfco@oration.com.

Transcontinental Robbie, Inc., formerly known as Robbie Manufacturing

Inc. and doing business as Robbie Fantastic Flexibles (“Robbie”), is a

Delaware corporation with its principal address at 10810 Mid-America Drive,

Lenexa, Kansas 66219. Robbie manufactures and sells a substantial number

of fresh produce packaging articles. In February 2015, Windham entered into

an agreement with Robbie to license the Asserted Patent to further Robbie’s

manufacture, marketing, sales and distribution of flexible films and specialty

pre-made bags for customers who produce and/or distribute, inter alia, fresh

vegetables and fruit. See Confidential Exhibit 38. More information about

Robbie can be found on its website, http://www.robbieflexibles.com.

88 Each of the foregoing licensees manufactures and sells fresh produce packaging

articles that practice the invention set forth in at least claim l of the Asserted Patent. The

representative domestic article addressed in Exhibit 27 is one example of a fresh produce
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packaging article manufactured and sold by a Windham licensee (Temkin) that is protected by

the Asserted Patent.

89. Windham’s licensing practices relative to the Asserted Patent have been ~

continuous and on-going since 2007; and between 2010 and 2016 alone these licensing practices

generatedrevenues Exhibit3,1]lI,Ex.3A.Windhamcontinuesto

routinely contact potential fresh produce customers and visits potential customers to promote

Windham’s technology and the licensees it works with. Id. 1]13. I

90. In the interest of further its licensing program, Windham also engaged in

litigation involving the Asserted Patent. Between2009 and 2010, Windham invested

— relatingtolitigationagainstSunshine.SeeExhibit3,1]20,Ex.3D.

That litigation resulted in the current and continuing license agreement between Windham and

Sunshine.

91. There is a strong nexus between Windham’s licensing activities and the Asserted

Patent. The Asserted Patent is inclusive of inventions for microperforated packaging for fresh

produce, and the licensing activities described infi-aare related to the practice of the Asserted

Patent, namely the manufacture of certain microperforated packaging for fresh produce.

b) Investments _byand on Behalf of Windham in Engineering,
Consulting, and Research and Development

92. Pursuant to Section 337(a)(3)(C), a domestic industry exists by virtue of

substantial investments in the United States made by and on behalf of Windham in exploiting the

Asserted Patent through engineering, consultation, and research and development relative to

articles protected by the Asserted Patent. I

93. Windham consistently engages in research and development with regard to

improving and finding new ways to make breathable packaging materials. Exhibit 3, 1]14. In
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this regard, Windham conducts produce respiration rate studies and determines package leak

rates, both used to determine the optimum perforation pattem for a specific fresh produce item.

Id. 1]l5. Windham also routinely conducts shelf life studies for customers of Windham’s

licensees, to encourage the purchase of the packaging articles covered by the Asserted Patent.

Id. 1] 14.

94. Considerable investments are also made on behalf of Windham by E.V. Marston

& Associates (“EVM”). EVM is owned and operated by Dr. Elizabeth Varriano-Marston, the

sole member of Windham Packaging, LLC. Id. 1]16. Since 2007, EVM, acting on behalf of

Windham and for the benefit of Windham’s licensees, has made substantial investments in

providing engineering and consulting services for Windham’s licensees, as well as undertaking

research and development efforts to maintain and improve relations between Windham and its

respective licensees, and to improve the microperforated packaging products that the licensees

manufacture and sell under their respective licenses to the Asserted Patent. Id. at 11l7. Between

2007and2016,EVMinvested— inprovidingsuchservicesandeffortsto

Windham licensees. See 1ll8, Ex. 3C. EVM has also invested substantial labor in providing

such services, spending more than 40 hours a week for research and development and over 20

hours a week on marketing, including business development and visits to prospective produce

customers and licensees, all to further the licensing and manufacture of the invention claimed in

the Asserted Patent. Id. 111l9, 2|.

95. The foregoing investments made by and on behalf of Windham in engineering,

consulting, and research and development are related to practice of the invention claimed in the

Asserted Patent, insomuch as these investments promote continued and additional licensing of

the invention claimed in the Asserted Patent, as well as continued manufacturing and selling of
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fresh produce packaging articles that practice the invention claimed in the Asserted Patent, such

as the representative domestic article addressed in Exhibit 27.

2. Domestic Industry u-nder Sections 337(a)(3)(A), (B)

96. Pursuant to Sections 337(a)(3)(A), (B), a domestic industry exists by virtue of

significant investments in the United States made by Windham and its licensees in plant,

equipment, labor, and capital related to'artic1es'protected by the Asserted Patent.

a) Windham’s Investment in Equipment and Labor

9_7. A domestic industry exists by virtue of significant investments in the United

States made by Windham in equipment relative to articles protected by the Asserted Patent,

pursuant to Section 337(a)(3)(A), and in labor relative to articles protected by the Asserted

Patent, pursuant to Section 337(a)(3)(B).

98. Windham has made and continues to make substantial investments in equipment

relative to the invention set forth in the Asserted Patent. Between 2008 and 2017, Windham

invested— inthepurchase,installation,andmaintenanceoflasersystemsand

equipment for articles protected by the Asserted Patent. See Exhibit 3, 1]12, Ex. 3B.

99. Among Windham’s equipment expenses are investments in equipment for certain

licensees. For example, in March 2012 Windham purchased, installed, and leased a laser system

to Temkin for manufacturing microperforated packaging materials in accordance with

Windham’s technical specifications, instructions, and safety and quality control standards.

Windham subsequently entered into a second equipment lease agreement in October 2016 for

providing and leasing another laser system to Temkin. See Confidential Exhibits 30-31.

Windhaminvested— inpurchasingandservicinglasersystemsandrelated

equipmentforTemkin.Exhibit3,ll 12,Ex.3B. Windhamalsoinvested

relative to laser systems and related equipment for KNF. Id.
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100. Windham has made significant investments in labor, including the hiring of a full

time salesperson to assist its licensees in their sales efforts, and a part-time market researcher to

find new customers for the licensees. Id. fl 21. In addition, Windham recently hired a post

harvest biologist to assist in shelf life studies for customers of Windham’s licensees, to

encourage the purchase of the packaging articles covered by the Asserted Patent. Id. 1]14.

101. Windham’s investments in equipment and labor are related to practice of the

invention claimed in the Asserted Patent, insomuch as these investments further the activities of

Windham’s licensees in manufacturing and selling fresh produce packaging articles protected by

the Asserted Patent, such as the representative domestic article addressed in Exhibit 27.

b) Windham’s Licensees’ Investment in Plant and Equipment

102. A domestic industry exists by virtue of significant investments in the United

States made by Windham’s licensees in plant and equipment relative to articles protected by the

Asserted Patent, pursuant to Section 337(a)(3)(A); and in labor and capital relative to articles

protected by the Asserted Patent, pursuant to Section 337(a)(3)(B).

103. Each of Windham’s licenses —Temkin, Emerald, Sunshine, KNF, and Robbie —

has made and continues to make substantial investments in plant, equipment, labor, and capital

relative to the manufacture and sale of fresh produce packaging articles. For example, Temkin

maintainsa— manufacturingplantinPayson,Utahandestimatesitstotal

capital expenditures to date associated with the manufacturing of microperforated packaging

coveredbytheirlicenseagreementwithWindhamtobe SeeExhibit

3, 116. Temkin also has distribution facilities in Miami, FL and Burlington, Ontario (Canada)

thattogethertotal‘. Id. Temkinestimatesannuallaborcostsdirectedtothe

manufacturing of the microperforated packaging for fresh produce covered by the Asserted

M e
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104. The investments by Windham’s licensees, such as those discussed above relative

to Temkin, are related to the production and sale of articles protected by the Asserted Patent,

insomuch as these investments concem plant and labor that are utilized for manufacturing and

distributing fresh produce packaging articles protected by the Asserted Patent, such as the

representative domestic article addressed in Exhibit 27 which is in fact an article produced by

Temkin.

X. RELATED LITIGATION

105. On June 5, 2009, Windham filed suit in the U.S. District Court for the Central

District of Califomia, styled Varriano-Marston and WindhamPackaging, LLC v. San Miguel

Produce, Inc. and Sunshine Plastics Corporation, Civil Action No. CV09-04036 MMM (FFmx),

asserting that Sunshine infringed the Asserted Patent. The case was resolved through settlement,

and the case was dismissed on February 3, 2010.

106. Other than the case noted above, there have been no other litigations pending or

previously filed relating to the Asserted Patent or the subject matter thereof.

XI. RELIEF REQUESTED

lO7. WHEREFORE, Windham respectfully requests that the Commission:

(a) Institute an immediate investigation, pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff

Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § l337, with respect to violations of

Section 337 based on Respondents’ unlawful importation into the llnited

States, sale for importation into the United States, and/or sale within the

United States afier importation of certain microperforated packaging

containing fresh produce that infringe claims 1-6, ll, and 13 of the

Asserted Patent;
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(b)

(C)

(<1)

(<1)

(D

(2)

(h)

Schedule and conduct a hearing on Respondents’ unlawful acts and,

following the hearing, determine there has been a violation of Section 337;

Render a determination that Windham has established a domestic industry

in the United States relating to the articles protected by the Asserted

Patent;

Render a determination that the Asserted Patent is valid and enforceable;

Render a determination that Respondents’ importation into the United

States, sale for importation into the United States and/or sale afier

importation into the United States of the Accused Products constitutes one

or more violations of Section 337;

Issue alpermanent limited exclusion order, pursuant to Section 337(d),

excluding from entry into the United States all of the Accused Products

that infringe claims l-6, ll, and 13 of the Asserted Patent;

Issue permanent cease and desist orders, pursuant to Section 337(t),

directing each Respondent to cease and desist from importing, selling for

importation, distributing, offering for sale or otherwise transferring the

Accused Products in the United States, marketing, advertising,

demonstrating, installing, servicing, repairing, and warehousing inventory

of such Accused Products for use in the United States, and aiding and

abetting others in these activities;

Impose a bond, pursuant to Section 337(j), upon Respondents during the

Presidential review period; and '
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(i) Grant such other and further relief as the Commission deems just and

proper based on the facts determined by the investigation and the authority

of the Commission.

Respec lly sub ' ed

Dated:/1/9'/' lg, ‘Al
' Edward A. Penning on
John P. Moy
Holly B. Lance
Ryan A. Varnum
John P. Pennington
Darlene K. Tzou
SMITH, GAMBRELL & RUSSELL, LLP
1055 Thomas Jefferson St. NW, Suite 400
Washington, DC 20007
Telephone: (202) 263-4300
epenningt0n@sgrlaw.com
jmoy@sgrlaw.com
hlance@sgrlaw.c0m
rvamum@sgrlaw.c0m
jpenningt0n@sgrlaw.c0m
dtz0u@sgrlaw.com

Attorneysfor Complainant WindhamPackaging, LLC
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